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The Almanacs of German Hunting Guns 
and 

their Makers 
 

Nr. 3 
 

The Simson Company in Suhl 
 
 
 
 

In this publication we combine original Simson Catalog pages with information about Sim-
son Guns, the history of the Simson family and the Simson Company. 

 
As additional information becomes available, it will be periodically added. 

 
We would appreciate if you would share any information about this company with us. We 

know that Simson also offered big bore African guns, and we would like to find information 
about them. 
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What we can learn from the Simson Catalog ? 
 

The catalog must have come out before 1924, because a photo of a shoot in Karlsbad in that year is shown. 

 

In reproducing an original Simson catalog we were more concerned with giving you best quality images 
than total originality. Although you might not be able to read the German text, the images tell the story. 

 

The Simson story begins in the old water driven hammer works that are shown in some of the 
illustrations. The Simson family bought several of these, modernized them, added the making of guns and 
expanded them to become the biggest factory in Suhl. Like in most catalogs of the time, the image of the 
Simson factory is exaggerated in this catalog from the late 1920s or early 1930s, but it was impressive fac-
tory. Some of the buildings still exist, some in very poor condition, but quite a few were blown up by Rus-
sian troops or razed. 
 
The images of the guns are very detailed and show the great variety of guns Simson made. Every Simson 
gun, from the plainest to the fanciest, was very well made. 
 
Some of the guns are listed by model number, others by model names of important shooting events in 
Monte Carlo, Wien (Vienna), Zedlitz and Karlsbad, and photos of these events are shown in the catalog. 
While the Krieghoff Company in Suhl used only model names, Simson used both names and model num-
bers. 
 

The catalog gives good and detailed information to help a customer make the right choices, and an effort is 
made to convince him of the quality of Simson guns by showing the testing equipment, the machinery and 
the test report that went out with every gun. This included the rifle target and the shot pattern of the shotgun 
barrels. A list of available rifle calibers and bullet weights is also included. 

 

Listings of Simson guns in auction catalogs and other documents are added for interest and show that Iver 
Johnson, Abercrombie & Fitch, von Lengerke & Detmold were Simson importers, and the Export Company 
“WUM” (Waffen und Munition) included Simson guns in their huge catalog. 

 

We know that Simson also procuced big bore guns for use in Africa and India, and hope to find a catalog of 
these guns. If you have additional information about Simson and their guns, please share it with us. 

 

We intentionally stay away from military guns that Simson made, because information about these is avail-
able from other sources. 
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1847 The Prussian State gives the Jewish people for the 
first time basic rights under the law. 
1850 Löb and Moses Simson (1908-1968) buy the “Old 
Hammer Mill” at a bankruptcy sale. They also have a 
clothing and cloth business. 
1854 The Simson buy their first hammer mill. 
1856  The Gebrüder Simson Company is founded and 
acquires shops in Suhl, Hirschbach and Goldlauter.  
1856  Simson & Luck, steel and barrel manufacturer, 
         gets big order for military guns from Holland  
         (Beaumont rifles) and converts Austrian war  
         booty guns of 1866 to needle fire, part of an  
         order of 150,000 M71 rifles. 
1884 Luck leaves the partnership. 
1893 Simson opens their own laboratory. 
1896  Simson & Co begins production of bicycles and 
         produces military rifles, swords and side arms for  
         the armys of many countries. 
1900 Simson opens a branch in Berlin. 
1909 Simson sells the first automobile. 
1912 Simson builds a Villa on the Domberg 
         overlooking Suhl. 
1914 World War I begins and the work force grows 
         to 5,500 employees. 
1918 After the end of World War I workers demand 
         help and Simson distributes 1 million Mark.  
1919 Simson is the only company that applied and was 
         allowed to make military and police guns under 
         the Treaty of Versailles. 
1923  Simson advertises the Simson Supra 
         Automoblie and baby cartridges. 
1924/25 The Simson Supra wins major automobile 
         races. 
1927 First signs of anti-semitism. 
1928 Simson donates 1,000 Mark to help people 
         survive the winter. 
1933 Hitler comes to power. 
1933 Simson Waffen & Fahrzeug GmbH uses the 
         trade mark Waffa, has its own laboratories for 
         physical, chemical and metalurgical testing. 
1934 The company name is changed to BSW, Berlin 
         Suhler Waffenwerke Simson & Co. K.G. 
     
 
 
 
 
 

They produve the following guns: 
    BSW over and under shotguns. 
    BSW pigeon guns. 
    BSW-Astora, Side-by-side shotguns, double  
              rifles and combination guns. 
    BSW carbines in calibers 6 mm and 9 mm.  
    BSW 22 LR rifles. 
    BSW competition target rifles. 
    BSW guns for foreign hunting conditions, 
              especially for Africa. 
1935/36 The Nazi Government confiscates all Simson 
properties and combines them with other factories under 
the name Gustloff Foundation or Gustloff Works. 
1936 The Simson family escapes to Switzerland. 
1938 “Kristallnacht”, the Syngoge insuhl is set on fire. 
1939 World War II begins, the company employs 4500 
people and grew to 6000 people during the war. The fac-
tory made military guns and airplane components. 
1945 World War II ends, American troops occupy Suhl 
on April 3, 1945 but leave after three months. Russian 
troops arrive the next day. 
1945 DDR (Deutsche Democratische Republic) is 
founded under a Communist Government. 
1946 All major factories in Suhl are combined under the 
name SAG Company (Soviet Aktien Gesellschaft), 
owned by the Russian Government, making bicycles and 
machines for Russia. 
1947 Using the Simson name the following Gun  Mod-
els were made: 35/70, 73, 74, 74E, 76, 76E, 235, 329E 
and Monte Carlo. 
1990 The iron curtain comes down and Germany is re-
united. 
1993 All Government owned gun companies come under 
the care of the “Treuhand”, a government agency that 
tries to find buyers that will continue thecompanies. 
1994 The offer by the Simsons and the Ruger Company 
in the USA are turned down. 
The Simson name was used on motorcycles for a few 
more years. 
An auditorium in the Suhl convention center still carries 
the Simson name. Some of the original Simson factory 
buildings were blown up by Russian troops, many others 
fell into disrepair, and others are still used in an industrial 
park. 
 
     
     
 

The History 
of the 

Simson Family and Simson Company 
1854 to 2003 
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Suhl – located in Thuringia called the green heart of Germany because of its central location and its forests 
and mountains. This location offered iron deposits, waterpower and an abundance of wood. Iron hammers 
were first mentioned in 1437 and the gun makers formed their first Guild in 1563. The history of Suhl is 
closely tied to the wars that brought gun orders as well as destruction by two major fires. Craftsmen from 
Liege in Belgium and from Nürnberg brought the art of gun making to Suhl. 
 Suhl was on the leading edge of the industrial revolution and, as in the U.S. and other countries gun 
makers had a major hand in developing the technology that led to modern production methods and the abil-
ity to hold very close tolerances for fully interchangeable components. 
 Suhl was a major supplier of military guns in World War I and II while suffering the consequences 
of these wars. The years in the second half of the 19th century and the early years of the 20th century up to 
World War I are considered the golden years of hunting gun 
production in Suhl. These are the years when all the famous 
gun makers like Sauer, Sim- son, Krieghoff and importers like 
Charles Daly and Abercrom- bie & Fitch, Stoeger and Griffin 
& Howe built their reputa- tions and exported or imported 
many German guns. 
 If you studied popula- tion registers of Suhl up to the 
beginning of World War II, you would find that 75% of the 
whole work force worked on guns, either in the bigger or 
smaller factories or the many home work shops attached to the 
back of practically every house. The bigger factories like 
Simson, Sauer and Krieghoff were able to do most of the work 
in their factories, but the smaller makers took advantage of 
a network of specialists.  Ap- prentices of the gun makers car-
ried guns and parts in a ruck- sack from one shop to the other.  
From this practice came the n a m e  “ R u c k s a c k -
Büchsenmacher” (backpack gunsmith). 

 American troops oc- cupied Suhl in April of 1945, but 
turned all of Thuringia over to Russian occupation in July of the 
same year. Shortly thereafter, the Russian occupiers ordered all 
modern machinery packed up and shipped by train to Russia as war reparations. At first all gun making was 
banned and only gradually allowed in the ensuing years. The Communist government took over all major 
companies and allowed only the smallest shops to exist as part of a cooperative (Bühag). 
 After German re-unification in 1998, the industry in the eastern part of Germany collapsed. Busi-
nesses were sold to the highest bidder and even to this day the unemployment rate is very high. Only one 
major factory, the Merkel factory, survived, as did a limited number of small gun makers and engravers.  

Production records of the pre-war gun makers are mostly lost and even their history must be pieced 
together from information in the hands of families, publications, gun users and collectors. But the remain-
ing gun makers, now not locked away behind the iron curtain and able to see what their competition in the 
free world is doing, are rapidly catching up in quality and ingenuity while preserving their gun making tra-
dition. 

A visitor to Suhl must visit the completely refurbished gun museum in a very attractive old building 
and see how gun making in Suhl developed and how the early gun makers worked. A group of visitors 
might be able to pre-arrange a factory tour at the Merkel factory. The old Schilling drop forge is also impor-
tant, but the owner must be called ahead of time to open the doors. Other than that, the visitor can walk 
through the old town and find historic markers on some of the buildings of the former gun makers. 
          Don’t expect to see all the guns that you collect or wished you had on display.  Besides the ones you 
can see in the museum, some of them are stored in a warehouse and shown in special exhibits that come and 
go. A guided tour of the museum can be arranged, and the GGCA Journal #36 can give you a good idea 
what to expect. 
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Suhl in 1948 
Oil painting by Bruchholz, 

a local artist 

 
The Simson villa 

above the center of Suhl 
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SIMSON  -  BSW  -  GUSTLOFF  WERKE  -  THAELMANN  WERKE  
                                      One company, four names and three owners. 

 
The Simson Family was in the manufacturing business in and near Suhl-Germany since 1857 and grew 
into one of the major manufacturers of guns, motorcycles, bicycles and the Simson Supra automobile. They 
were producers of military guns as well as a complete line of high quality hunting and sporting guns. Since  
1884 the company was called Simson & Co. and was re-named  Berlin-Suhler Waffen- und Fahrzeug-
werke (BSW) in the 1934. 
 
After World War I (1914-1918) in the Treaty of Verailles it was specified that only one German arms 
maker would be allowed to produce guns for the small remaining army and for the police. When no other 
German gunmakers was willing to do this, the Simson family reluctantly applied, was chosen and helped 
Suhl and its workers through the tough depression years.  
 
When Hitler came to power in 1933, the Jewish Simson family was one of the first to feel the heavy hand of 
the Nazis. Three family members were thrown into prison on trumped up charges of profiteering and only 
released when they turned over all their factories to the Nazis. Some members of the Simson family were 
able to go to Switzerland and the United States.  
 
The Nazis made renamed their factory  GUSTLOFF WERKE , that became part of the Gustloff Stiftung 
in 1939. This conglamorate consisted of the Fritz Saukel Works in Weimar, the gun factories in Suhl, the 
Hirtenberg Ammunition Factory, the Muselwitz Engineering Co. and Thuringia House in Berlin. 
 
In 1943 an additional factory was built at the Concentration Camp Buchenwald 
 
At the end of World War II Suhl was first occupied by American troops on April 4th. 1945 but soon traded 
off to the Russians in exchange for an Allied presence in Berlin.The Russians confiscated the factory, de-
stroyed some of it and turned the rest over to the east German government (DDR) when it was formed.  
 
The Simson factory was combined with all other gun factories in Suhl and now called ERNST THAEL-
MANN WERKE. (Ernst Thaelmann was a martyr of the German communist party) Some of the guns were 
marked with the Simson name.  
 
This ended with the re-unification of Germany and only motorcycles and motor scooters were made with 
the Simson name for several more years. 
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Excerpt from the Treaty of Versailles  
 

The attacks by the Nazis and other German gun makers were defended with the statement that the 
Simson Company asked to be the exclusive maker of guns for the remaining German military and po-
lice. This has been proven to be a fabrication. Other major gun companies like Mauser and Walther 
chose not to apply for becoming the one permitted gun maker. It is also known that the Simson family 
applied with great reluctance, but decided that this would bring work to Suhl and benefit the workers 
of Suhl. 
 

CHAPTER II 
 

ARMAMENT, MUNITIONS AND MATERIAL 
 

Article 164 
 

Up till the time at which Germany is admitted as a member of the League of Nations the German 
Army must not possess an armament greater than the amounts fixed in Table No. II annexed to this 
Section, with the exception of an optional increase not exceeding one-twenty fifth part for small arms 
and one-fiftieth part for guns, which shall be exclusively used to provide for such eventual replace-
ments as may be necessary.  
 
Germany agrees that after she has become a member of the League of Nations the armaments fixed 
in the said Table shall remain in force until they are modified by the Council of the League. Further-
more she hereby agrees strictly to observe the decisions of the Council of the League on this subject.  
 

 Article 166 
 

At the date of March 31, 1920, the stock of munitions which the German Army may have at its dis-
posal shall not exceed the amounts fixed in Table No. III annexed to this Section.  
Within the same period the German Government will store these stocks at points to be notified to the 
Governments of the Principal Allied and Associated Powers. The German Government is forbidden to 
establish any other stocks, depots or reserves of munitions.  
 

    Article 168 
 

The manufacture of arms, munitions, or any war material, shall only be carried out in factories or 
works the location of which shall be communicated to and approved by the Governments of the Princi-
pal Allied and Associated Powers, and the number of which they retain the right to restrict.  
 
Within three months from the coming into force of the present Treaty, all other establishments for the 
manufacture, preparation, storage or design of arms, munitions, or any war material whatever shall 
be closed down. The same applies to all arsenals except those used as depots for the authorised 
stocks of munitions. Within the same period the personnel of these arsenals will be dismissed.  
 

 Article 170 
 

Importation into Germany of arms, munitions and war material of every kind shall be strictly prohib-
ited.  
The same applies to the manufacture for, and export to, foreign countries of arms, munitions and war 
material of every kind.  
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The shops of 
Simson + Luck  

in 1856 

The first Simson 
shops in Suhl-Heinrichs 

The Simson Factory 
in the 1930’s 
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The other Simson Products 
 

 There is no doubt that Simson was best known all over 
the world for the guns they made, both military and sport-
ing guns. Gunmaking came to Suhl because iron ore was 
found in the mountains and water power and wood was 
available to smelt the iron and water power could be used 
to drive the  hammer works that turned the iron into steel. 
This in turn attracted gunmkers to settle in Suhl. As iron 
ore was found in other parts of the country that were more 
accessible, the mining of iron ore and the need for ham-
mer works came to an end. The Simsons took adventage 
of this and bought several such hammer works very rea-
sonably, one in the location where their factory emerged 
and became the biggest one far and wide. 

They used these facilities to produce products for the mili-
tary, and also opened the Simson & Luck hunting gun 
shop. Being good businessmen, the Simsons realized that 
gunmaking had its up and downs, prospering when mili-
tary guns were in demand but facing very hard times 
when wars ended. Hunting and sporting guns could not 
fill the gap alone, and bicycles, motorcycles, baby car-
riages and automobiles were produced by the Simson fac-
tory. 
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Serious gun collectors know of the Simson made military guns used in World War I and II, 
among them the Mauser rifles and Luger pistols. Information about these as well as the machine 
guns and anti-aircraft guns made by Simson is available from other sources. 
 
 Like quite a few gun makers all over the world, the Simsons also were part of the automobile 
development. The first Simson car came out in 1909 and was a  12ps two cylinder passenger car 
with two seats, followed by delivery wagons, small trucks, and ambulances that were used in 
World War I. The Simson Supra shown below was their latest model with a 90ps motor that won 
quite a few road races at the time. When the last car was assembled in 1932, Simson had pro-
duced only about 2500 cars. 


